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Abstract: The Panagia ton Chalkeon, constructed in 1128, serves as
a prime example of the regional tradition of Thessaloniki during the Middle
Byzantine period. Extensive literature has been dedicated to the study of its
architectural features, which are the result of the creative reworking of ideas
derived from various sources in Constantinople, on Mount Athos, and directly
in Thessaloniki by the Thessalonikian master builder. In this article, we aim to
build upon the extant theme by examining the origins and historical significance
of the Panagia ton Chalkeon, a unique monument noteworthy for its role as a
source of innovative ideas that transcended the boundaries of Macedonia, sig-
nificantly influencing the architectural development of the Byzantine Theme of
Bulgaria.
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The Christian monuments of Thessaloniki, the center of Byzantine
Macedonia and the second largest city of the Empire, are renowned for their
substantial scale, superior craftsmanship, and aesthetic virtues, thus distinguish-
ing them as exemplary works of art. In this regard, the regional distinctiveness
of Thessaloniki’s architectural tradition, its relationship with Constantinople
and the parallel developments in other centers, remain subjects of considerable
interest2.

I This research was funded by the Russian Science Foundation, project no. 20-18-
00294-I1.

2 S. Curtié, Architecture in the Balkans from Diocletian to Siileyman the Mag-
nificent (ca. 300 - ca. 1550), London — New Haven 2010, 545-577; Idem, The Role
of Late Byzantine Thessalonike in Church Architecture in the Balkans, DOP 57, 2003,
65-84; T1. A. BokotomovAog, Ot ueooiwvikoi vooi g Osooalovikns ko 1 Géon tovg oto.
mhaioo e folavnvie vaodouios, H Ocooaloviky petald Avarolng xor Avong, Ipoxtixa
Teaooporovraetnpioog tne Etaupios Moxedovikwv Zrovdwv (30 Zerteufpioo — 1 Nogufpion,
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g.'i«_,\' Fig. 1 Panagia
' ! ton Chalkeon,
Aoy Thessaloniki,
1028 (photo by S.
Maltseva).

Cn. 1. [lanarua
TOH XaJIKCOH

y Conyny,
1028. (doto C.
Mauntcena)

The limited number and chronological irregularity of the preserved mon-
uments from the Middle Byzantine period have led to a significant controversy
surrounding this issue, which is thoroughly examined in the article by Michalis
Kappas. The author has summarized the results of many years of research and
provided an exhaustive bibliography on the subject3. As it turned out, identify-
ing the features of regional uniqueness in the architecture of the second largest
city of the Empire, which developed in line with the cultural life of the capital
but with different degrees of intensity at different times, was not an easy task.

The question of local architectural tradition was initially addressed by
George Velenis in detail, who also identified an initial manifestation of regional
features in the architecture of Thessaloniki during the Middle Byzantine period,
exemplified by the Panagia ton Chalkeon (1028)4. (Fig.1)

The inscription above the entrance indicates that this church in
Thessaloniki, dedicated to the Virgin Mary, was constructed in 1028 by pro-
tospatharios Christopher, the catepan of Lagouvardia, with his wife Maria and
children>. The ktetor of the Panagia ton Chalkeon is identified as protospath-
arios Christopher, the catepan of Thessaloniki and Bulgaria, whose identity is
established through a seal dated between 1018 and 1028. The architectural fea-
tures of the Panagia ton Chalkeon have been the subject of considerable discus-
sion in scholarly literature. One of the most frequently addressed topics is the
combination of metropolitan and regional characteristics. It is evident that all

Ocaoolovikn 1980), Oscoorovikn 1982, 97-110.

3 M. Kanmac, Apxumexmyphoiii «uouonexkmy Deccanonuxu 8 cpeoHe- u no3oHe-
BU3AHMUTICKUE Nepuodbl: cxoocmea u paziuyus ¢ Koncmanwmunononem, Buzantuit u Bu-
3aHTHs. [IpOBHHIMANN3M CTONHIBI U CTOMMYHOCTh HpoBuHIMHK, Cankr-IlerepOypr 2020,
27-153.

4 T. Behévng, Meoofvlavuivii vaodouio oty Ocooalovikn, ABnva 2003, 16-18, 26—
33,94-97.

5 M. Paissidou, The church ‘Panagia Chalkeon in Thessaloniki’: a different ap-
proach of a monastic institution and its founder, Siris. Studi e ricerche della Scuola di spe-
cializzazione in beni archeologici di Matera 15, 2015, 123 (with extensive bibliography).
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Fig. 2. Panagia
ton Chalkeon,
Thessaloniki,
1028. Plan (ac-
cording to Curéi¢)
Ca. 2. [Tanaruja
TOH XaJKEOH Y
Comnyny, 1028.
(ocHoBa C.
TRypuuh)

authors have correctly identified the church as belonging to the Constantinople
typology of the inscribed cross with a bema, which was a rare occurrence in
Macedonia at the time (Fig. 2)6.

Furthermore, the Panagia ton Chalkeon exhibits architectural features that
are analogous to those observed in the Constantinople churches of the Middle
Byzantine period. The interior and exterior of walls are articulated with pilas-
ters corresponding to the four columns within. The transition from the vault of
the eastern arm of the cross to that of the bema is marked by a ledge. The walls
are constructed exclusively of brick and feature richly articulated facades with
the use of semi-columns. The concealed course technique, which was already
employed by the capital’s masters of the 11th century and which had previously
been observed in the monuments of the end of the 10th century, was also utilized
in the Panagia ton Chalkeon.

Conversely, researchers have repeatedly highlighted the distinctions be-
tween the Panagia ton Chalkeon and its contemporaries in Constantinople, par-
ticularly in terms of technique and other compositional and stylistic elements.
These include the completion of the arms of the cross with triangular pediments,
the small size of the single-light windows, and so forth. Consequently, Greek
researchers G. Velenis and M. Kappas have proposed that this church represents
a rare example of the architectural tradition of Thessaloniki’. They saw the dis-
tinctive characteristics of local originality in the irregular use of the concealed
course technique, the articulation of the facade with niches, and a few rare mo-
tifs. These include the combination of the central faceted and lateral semicir-
cular apses and two tiers of windows in the drum of the main dome, which is
perceived as a conscious reproduction of the forms of the Church of St. Sophia

6 T. Belévng, Meoofolavrivyy vaodouio oty Osooaioviky, Adnvo 2003, 1618,
26-33, 94-97; P. L. Vocotopoulos, The Role of Constantinopolitan Architecture during the
Middle and the Late Byzantine Period, JOB 31/2, 1981, 555-558, 561; A. Evyyoémovioc, O
vaog ¢ Osotokov twv Xalkéwv, I'pnyoplog o Marapdg B', 1918, 562-567; M. Paissidou,
The church Panagia ton Chalkeon,121-133.

7 T. Behévng, ‘H dpyrrextovikny Zyolny g Moxedoviag, Envaén, 63, lovioc-
Yemteppprog 1997, 51-52; M. Kanmac, Apxumexmypnutii «uouonexmy @eccanonuxu, 135-137.
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Fig. 3. Church
of St. John the
Theologian

of the Zemen
Monastery,
mid 11th cen-
tury. (photo by
S. Maltseva)

Ca. 3. Llpksa
Cs. JoBana
JeBanhemucre
y 3emeny,
CPEIHOM

11. Beka,
Byrapcka.
(®oto C.
Masbuesa)

in Thessaloniki. Recent publications supported and enriched this point of view,
particularly through the work of Anna Zakharova8. She has studied the pecu-
liarities and construction methods of the monument, tracing the synthesis of
Constantinople characteristics and Athonite specifics in the arrangement of the
two-story narthex. Additionally, she has succeeded in exposing the uniqueness
of the monument and delineated the logic of its formation in Thessaloniki. Her
research has persuasively demonstrated that the Panagia ton Chalkeon exempli-
fies the creative integration of concepts from various sources in Constantinople,
on Athos, and within Thessaloniki itself.

In this article, we aim to build upon the existing theme by examining the
origins and historical significance of the Panagia ton Chalkeon, a unique monu-
ment from the 11th century located in Thessaloniki. This monument is notewor-
thy for its role as a source of innovative ideas that transcended the boundaries
of Macedonia, significantly influencing the architectural development of the
Byzantine Theme of Bulgaria.

By the 11th century, the large-scale construction that typified the late
antique and early medieval periods had ceased in the northern regions of the
Balkans®. However, a shift in the regional dynamics emerged in the early 9th
century. In 809, under the leadership of Krum, the Khan of Bulgaria (796-
814), the campaign resulted in the loss of Serdika, the administrative center
of the northern regions, to the Byzantines10. Subsequent to his victory over

8  A. Zakharova, Once Again on the Originality of Byzantine Architecture in the 11th
Century: The Church of Panagia Chalkeon in Thessaloniki, Deltion of Christian Archaeo-
logical Society 43, 2022, 81-94.

9 H. Yanesa-JleueBcka, Pannoxpucmuanckama apxumexmypa 6 bvieapus V-V 6.,
Codust 1999.

10 A. JTanueBa-Bacuiesa A, Hcmopus na Cpeonosexosna Cogus IV-XIV gex, Co-
¢us 2017.
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Fig. 4. Church

of St. John the
Theologian of the
Zemen Monastery,
mid-11th century.
Plan (according to
Curtié).

Cx. 4. Lipksa

Cg. JoBaHa
Jesanhenucre y
3eMeHy, CpeIHHOM
11. Beka, Byrapcka.
(ocHosa C.
TRypuuh)

the Byzantine emperor Nicephorus I (802-811) in 811, the Bulgarian forces
captured Thrace and most of Macedonia, and by the 10th century, they had
established dominion over a substantial portion of the Balkans. However, the
cultural and administrative epicenters of the Bulgarian state, including its re-
ligious institutions and artistic milieu, were primarily situated in the eastern
regions, such as Pliska and Preslavll. Following the adoption of Christianity
from the Byzantine Empire under Tsar Boris in 864, significant architectural de-
velopments occurred, with the involvement of master builders from Greek and
Dalmatian architectural centers!2. These developments subsequently migrated
to the southwest, reaching the Ohrid and Prespa regions!3.

11 C. Iupusarpuh, Camyunosa oepoicasa — obum u kapaxmep, beorpan: Buzanro-
nouku uHCTUTYT CAHY, 1997, 73-132.

12 T. AtanacoB, Om enuckonus Kvm camocmouna nampuapwius Ha ITepeomo Bo-
neepcko yapemeo 6 LApvemvp (Cunucmpa). Mcmopusma na nampuapuieckusi KOMH1EKc,
Codust 2017; H. Maspoounos, Cmapobvreapckomo uskycmeo: Hzxycmeomo na Ilepsomo
ovaeapcko yapcmeo, Codusa 1959; H. Yanesa-JleueBcka, [{vprosnama apxumexmypa Ha
ITvpsama Bveapcka ovporcasa, Codus, 1984.

13 N. Movtoomoviog, Exxinoics e Kaoropiag, 9o¢—11o¢ oicdvag, Oecoalovikn
1992; H. MaBpoanHnoB, Cmapobweacapckomo uskycmeso. Mzxycmeomo na ITvpeomo bvazap-
cko yapcmeo, Copus 1959; H. YUanesa-/leuescka, [[oprosnama apxumexmypa na ITvpsama
Buvreapcka Jfvporcasa, Codust 1984; C. Myuaii; C. [Ixxyepu; U. Puctanu; A. TleHTKOBCKHH,
Cpeoneserosvie yepksu 6 donune Lywuyvt (FOoxucnas Anbanus) u ClaBsHCKasT enuckonus
cem. Knumenma Oxpuockoeo, Slovéne. International Journal of Slavic Studies 3/1, 2014,
5-42; AM. IlentkoBckuii, [louumanue ceamumens Knumenma ¢ Oxpuoe 6 X—XI'| 6s., Cra-
pobbarapcka auteparypa 48, 2013, 79-113; C. B. MansueBa, Monacmuipckas apxumex-
mypa kpyea ceamovix Hayma u Knumenma Oxpuockux 6 konmekcme Xpamogozo 300uecmed
Ilepsoco Boneapckoeo yapcmea u apxumexkmypHvix mpaouyull GU3AHMUUCKUX NPOSUHYUL
IX-XI 6., AxTyansHbIe IpoOJIeMBI TEOPUH M NCTOPHH HcKyccTBa 10, mox pex.: A. B. 3axapo-
Boif, C. B. Mansuesoit, E. 0. CranrokoBuu-/lenncooii, Mocksa — Cankt-IlerepOypr 2020,
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Fig. 5. Church of St. Sofia in
Ohrid, beginning of thellth
century, North Macedonia.
Eastern fagade (photo by S.
Maltseva)

Cn. 5. Cs. Coduja y
Oxpuny, noyerak 11. Bexa,
CesepHa Maxkenonuja.
(®oto C. Masnesa)

Fig. 6. The church of St.
Germanos on Prespa, end
of the 10th — beginning of
thellth century. Plan (ac-
cording to Curéi¢)

Cu. 6. Llpksa Cs. I'epmana
Ha [Ipecmn, kpaj 10 -
nmoyerak 11 Beka, ['puxa.
(ocunosa C. hypuuh)

After the defeat of the First Bulgarian Kingdom by the Byzantine Emperor
Basil 11 (976-1025) in 1019, an important ecclesiastical and political initiative
was the establishment of the Archdiocese of Ohrid, which was called to serve
the numerous Slavic-speaking population in the vast territories united under
Byzantine rulel4.

The archdiocese consisted of 31 dioceses whose jurisdiction stretched
from Ianina in the south to Syrmium (Sremska Mitrovica) in the north, from
Durostorum (Silistra) in the east to the Adriatic coast in the west!5.

During the period of the first Ohrid archbishops, John of Debar (1019—
1037) and Leo of Ohrid (1037-1056), construction projects emerged in various
locations throughout the Balkan Peninsula. The extensive scope of renovation

809-828.

14 H. Gelzer, Der Patriarchat von Achrida, Leipzig 1902; B. Ilpokuh, [Tocmanak Ox-
pudckoe nampujapxama, I'mac Cpricke Kpamjescke Axkamaemuje 90, beorpax 1912, 175-267.

15 U. Cuerapos, Hcmopus na oxpudckama apxuenucrkonus. Om ocnogasanemo u 00
3aenaossanemo Ha bankanckus nonyocmpos om mypyume 1, Codus 1995; A. H. Aeknkaépn,
Apyiemoronn Aypiowv kord tov Meooiwva. O porog e ws evwtikod mopayovia otny moMtki
Kou ekKAnolootiki] 10topio twv oAdfwv twv Balkaviwv ko tov Bolavtiov, ®scoaiovikn 2014.
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and building activities, extending to areas beyond Ohrid, resulted in the conver-
gence of artisans from different regions. This exchange fostered a diversity of
creative ideas and architectural techniques, contributing to the rich and varied
architectural landscapel6.

In the central and southern dioceses of the Ohrid Archdiocese, the princi-
pal architectural milestones of the region can be identified7, while in the north-
ern regions, the names of the clients are often unknown, the dating is inaccurate,
but the architectural quality is often high18. The structures of particular interest
are situated in the western regions of the modern Bulgaria, where, prior to the
restoration of Byzantine presence in the 11th and 12th centuries, there was virtu-
ally no active architectural development19.

In the context of Byzantine-era church construction and the activity of the
Ohrid bishopric, the Church of St. John the Theologian of the Zemen Monastery
(Fig. 3) is among the earliest buildings in the region. Prior to the discovery
of fragments of wall paintings, dated around the middle of the 11th century,
researchers had attributed the church to the 14th century20. The architectural
composition of the inscribed-cross square church (measuring 9x9m) is primar-
ily composed of hewn stone, with minimal inclusions of recycled brick, par-
ticularly evident in the decorative outlines of archivolts of the facade niches.
The integrity of the building’s composition, in addition to its cubical volume,
is accentuated by the absence of a narthex and three semi-circular apses, which
protrude seamlessly beyond the eastern facade. The slender silhouette of the
church is accentuated by a cylindrical, elongated drum with two rows of win-
dows and niches. This distinctive architectural element bears a resemblance to
analogous features found in monuments from a similar historical period, such as
the Church of St. John the Baptist in Nessebar (late 10th century)21. This church
also features a four-column inscribed-cross configuration, lacking a narthex,
with semicircular apses and a long cylindrical drum, pierced by windows, and
adorned with a ‘necklace’ of small niches. An additional, even more vivid ex-

16 A. B. 3axaposa; C. B. MansueBa, Xydooicecmsennvie mpaouyuu u yepkosHo-no-
Jaumudeckas udeonozus 8 uckyccmee Maxedonuu 8 3noxy cozoanuss OXpuockoi apxuenucko-
nuu, BB 106, Mocksa 2022, 174-199 (with references).

17 S. Curéié, Architecture in the Balkans, 394-412.

18 M. buues, Apxumexmypa boneapuu ¢ camvix opesnux epemen 0o konya XIX eexa,
Codus, 1961; Kp. MusiteB, Apxumexmypama 6 cpeonosexosua bvreapus, Copus 1965; H.
Uanesa-JleueBcka, [[vprosnama apxumexmypa Ha ITepsama bveapcka ovporcasa, Codust
1998; H. MaspomnunoB, Cmapobwacapckomo uskycmeo. Hzxkycmeomo na I[lvpeomo 6wnzap-
cko yapcmeso, Codpus 1959; M. Paxounja, Lprsa Cs. Josana usnao I'opree Mamejesya u
eHa apxauyHa mpukonxaita ochoea, Hum n Buzantuja 18, 36opHuk pagosa 800 ronuHa
aytokedannoctu Cprcke upkse (1219-2019): upksa, monuTHKa U yMETHOCT y Buzantuju u
cyceqanM 3emsbama, Humr 3. — 5. jyn 2019, Humr 2020, 121 — 158.

19 C. B. Manbuesa; A. A. ®pese, Cmpoumenvcmeo ¢ Cegeproui Makeoonuu 6 nepu-
00 80368pawyeHUs NOO U3AHMULICKOE 811A0bIYecm80, AKTyaIbHbIE TPOOIEMBI TEOPUH U UCTO-
puu uckyccrBa 11, mon pen.: A. B. 3axaposoii, C. B. Mansuesoii, E. FO. CrantoxoBuu-/le-
Hucosoi, Cankr-IlerepOypr 2021, 422-436.

20 JI. MaBpoauHOBa, 3emenckama ywvpkea. Hemopus, apxumexkmypa, scugonuc, Co-
¢usa 1980, 15-22; S. Curéi¢ Architecture in the Balkans, 483—485.

21 8. Curti¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 332.
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Fig. 7. Church of

the Virgin Mary in
Peshképi e Sipérme,
second half of 10th
century, Albania. Plan
(according to Curgic)

Ca. 7. Upxksa Ca.
Boroponure y
[Nemkonu y Cunepmu,
Jpyra IoJoBHHA

11. Beka, Anbanuja.
(ocHosa C. hypunh)

ample is the Panagia ton Chalkeon in Thessaloniki (1028), where two rows of
large single windows of the drum and deep semi-circular niches of the western
domes are similar in configuration to the church in Zemen. However, the au-
thenticity of the large single niches with brick edging in the upper register of the
drum at the Zemen church is not confirmed with certainty. The facades of the
Zemen church reveal traces of multiple repairs, as a result of which the corner
compartments, together with the side apses, were raised and united by a com-
mon cornice?2, The absence of the fresco layer above the lower row windows
from the inside of the drum indicates that the upper part of the structure was
either significantly modified or completely rebuilt.

The spatial configuration of the Zemen church is characterized by a divi-
sion of the nave and altar into nine cells of similar size, facilitated by four square
pillars. This arrangement creates a sense of structured regularity, suggesting a
square plan (Fig. 4). Such a church configuration emerged in the Balkans during
the 10th century, though it was not prevalent. A more widespread configuration
of inscribed-cross churches is that distinguished by rectangular outlines of the
plan and a more pronounced three-nave division of the interior with longitudi-
nally oriented cylindrical vaults of the corner cells. The vaults are supported
by four substantial rectangular pillars, which accentuate the longitudinal ori-
entation of the space. These pillars divide the lateral chambers from the wider
central square, as observed in the church in Vodo¢a near Strumica across all
three phases from the late 10th century to the end of the 11th century?3 and in the
Church of St. John the Baptist in Nessebar of the late 10th century?24.

The articulation of the facades in Zemen utilizes a composition of three
blind profiled arches, with a raised central one. The outer outline of the arches is

22 JI. MaBpoauHOBa, 3emenckama yvpked, 9.
23 TI. MunskoBuk-Ilenek, Kounnexcom ypkeu 6o Boooua, Cxomje 1975, 72.
24 S. Curéi¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 332.
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Fig. 8. Church of the
Virgin Mary in Peshképi
e Sipérme, second half
of 10th century, Albania. |
Eastern fagade (photo by !
S. Maltseva)

Con. 8. Llpksa |
Boroponune y Ilemkonu
y Cunepmu, apyra
nosjoBuHa 11. Bexa. 4

Hcrouna dacana, (boro '
C. Manuega)

laid out exclusively in stone, while the inner archivolts appear to be striped with
alternating stones and bricks. It is noteworthy that the contours of the arches on
the western, most decorated, facade have thin brick outlines separating the arch
from the wall. Analogous techniques have been observed in the edifices of the
pre-Helladic school, where stone predominates in the masonry, as evidenced
by the churches in Gavrolimni and Peshképi.2> This tradition persists in the
monuments of the Ohrid Archbishopric in the 11th century (church in Drenovo,
mid-11th century)26. A notable instance of this technique can be observed in the
central apse of the Church of St. Sophia in Ohrid, where the arches of the single
windows are adorned with double brick edging. A similar brick edging is also
present on the stone architraves of the windows in the upper tier aisles on the
eastern facade of St. Sophia (Fig. 5).

The church of St. Germanos on Prespa, dating to the late 10th century,
bears a close analogy to the Zemen church, also featuring a square plan and
square pillars.27 However, a notable distinction emerges when comparing the
two churches. The church on Prespa is comparatively smaller and possesses
smooth facades, exhibiting a more simplified construction method. The geo-
graphical context of the church of St. Germanos, situated in northwestern
Macedonia, is noteworthy for its proximity to Epirus, a region where this archi-
tectural typology with a square plan and square pillars is widely recognized.28

(Fig. 6).

25 TI. A. Bokotomovrog, H ekkAnoiactiky apyitextovikn €ig v Avtkny Ziepedv
EMado ko1 v Hrepov. Ano tov tédovg tov 700 uéypt tov téiovg tov 10ov aidvog,
®eccarovikn 1992, 74-85.

26 B. Cipan, St. Sophia. The Cathedral Church of the Ohrid Archbishopric. A Chro-
nology of the Architecture, Skopje 1996, 147; S. Cur&ié, Architecture in the Balkans, 400—
401; C.B. Manbuesa; A.A. ®pese, Cmpoumenrvcmeo ¢ Cegeproii Maxedonuu, 422-436.

27 AYunuHrupos, {vpreama ,, Ceemu I'epman‘* 0o Ilpecnanckomo ezepo, bepnun
2001; S. Curti¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 332-333.

28 TI. A. Bokotonovkog, H exrinotootiky opyitextovikyj eig myv Avticiy Xtepeay
EMaédo.
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Fig. 10.
Dormition
Church in

Labové near

Gjirokastér,
Albania, second |-
quarter of the
11th century,
fragment of ma- =~
sonry (photoby | = =
S. Maltseva) |

Ca. 10. 3uname
ucTouHe (acaae
LpKBe Ycrema (i
boropoauuey ¥
JlaGoBy, npyra
4eTBpTHHA 11.
Beka, AnGanuja. |
(®oro C.
Mauesa)

Fig. 9. Traces of plaster with imita- An exemplary instance of a square
tion brickwork on the eastern facade  Jayout and facade decoration program is the
in Zemen, mid-11% century. Bulgaria  pichynric of Dropolis (presently identified as

(photo by . Maltseva) the Church of the Virgin Mary in Peshképi e

Cu. 9. Tparosu mantepa ca Sipérme, Albania) erected during the First

MMHTALH]OM 3H/1A Ha UCTOTHO]  Byloarian Empire in the 10th century.29
¢dacanu y 3emeny, cpeanHoM 11. Bexa, . .

Byrapexa. (oo C. Manesa) (Fig 7). Thls large churgh f_‘ea‘a_lres a square
layout with balanced distribution of space
within, showcasing a shallow semi-circular

apse and a high cylindrical drum. The Church of the Virgin Mary in Peshképi
exhibits notable parallels with the church of the Zemen monastery, particu-
larly in the layout of the apse and the drum. A comparative analysis of these
two churches reveals additional parallels in their architectural features. Both
churches are constructed of stone, with minimal chaotic inclusion of bricks in
the masonry, a characteristic of the pre-Elladian architecture of Epirus.30 Bricks
are found in the form of thin outlines on the drums, in the framing of archivolts,
and in the junction between windows and niches. The rare motif of the drum
girdle, characterized by its double-layer of bricks, bears a striking resemblance
in the aforementioned churches. The eastern facade in Peshké&pi and the western
facade in Zemen feature crosses of brick, a common element in Greek monu-
ments, particularly in the western regions (Fig 8). Three crosses are also present
on the central apse of St. Sophia of Ohrid, along with the masonry, which con-
sists of blocks of rough limestone, and the stone archivolts above the windows.

29 Idem.
30 Jdem, 199-213.
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The presence of these elements suggests the possibility of the involvement of
craftsmen from the western regions of Greece in the construction of these com-
ponents of St. Sophia.

In the central apse of the church in Zemen, there are traces of the original
rose-colored plastering, a widespread decorative style of the 11th century31.
The plaster exhibits imitation masonry with applied red pigment ornaments re-
sembling the letters XK, K, T, etc. (Fig. 9). Such decorative masonry with brick
elements resembling the letters XK, K, T, etc., is a notable feature of numerous
10th - 11th-century monuments in the Kastoria and other neighboring regions.32
Of particular interest is the presence of analogous ,,letters* in the masonry walls
of the Dormition Church in Labové near Gjirokastér, Albania (second quarter
of the 11th century).33 (Fig. 10) This church features a square plan, lacking a
narthex, with three semi-circles of apses and an elongated cylindrical drum,
bearing resemblance to the Zemen church. The typology of that cross-domed
church with a bypass differs from the one in Zemen. However, the square plan,
the shape of the drum, and the similarity of certain decorative elements link
these two structures. The painting on the apse of the Zemen church appears to
emulate the decorative masonry with letter-like motifs found in the churches of
Kastoria and Labové. The Kastorian master builders are believed to have come
to this site from Ohrid, where they were actively involved in large archbishop’s
commissions.34 They took part in the erection and decoration of this outstand-
ing architectural project, largely reproducing the typology and interior composi-
tions of the Hagia Sophia in Thessaloniki or may be some Constantinopolitan
structures3>. As demonstrated in the recent study conducted by A. V. Zakharova,
the Deesis fresco uncovered on the gallery of the Labové Church dates back to
the middle of the 11th century,36 which corresponds in time to the painting of

31 S. Mamaloukos, Treatment of the Facades with Inscribed and Painted Architectur-
al Forms and decorative Features in Mid Byzantine Architecture, Apxutexrypa Buzantuu u
Hpesneii Pycn IX—XII BexoB: MaTepuaibl MexxayHapoHoro cemunapa: 17-21 nosops 2009
rona B [ocynapcrBennom Dpmuraxe, Cankr-IlerepOypr 2010, 74-88.

32 N. Movtoonoviog, Exxinaies g Kaotopiag. 9o¢—11og arwmvag, Ocooalovikn
1992; A. Zakharova, On the 10th—11th century Churches in Kastoria and Related Buildings:
The Problems of Attribution and Dating, Ni§ and Byzantium 21, Hurr 2023, 159-176.

33 1. A. Bokotoénovrog, H exxlnoiootikn apyitextoviky €ic v Avtuknpv Xtepedy
Eliéda, 86-92, 194-196, 201; A. V. Zakharova, Some Observations on the Church of the
Dormition in Labovo (Albania) and its Murals, Agktiov g XpioTiovikig ApYotohoyikng
Etoupeioc 41, 2020, 157-172.

34 A. Zakharova, On the 10th—11th century Churches in Kastoria and Related Build-
ings: The Problems of Attribution and Dating, Ni§ and Byzantium 21, Hum 2023, 159-176;
A. B. 3axaposa; C. B. ManbueBa, Xyooswcecmeennvle mpaouyuu u yepkosHO-NOTUMUYECKAs
uoeonoeus 6 uckyccmee, Buzantuiickuit Bpemennuk 106, Mocksa 2022, 174-199.

35 @. Kapayvvn, Emorxomikol vaoi ¢ uéong folavrvig mepiodov. To mapdadeiyua
¢ Maxedoviag (didaxropixn diazpifn), Oeccalovikn 2006.

36 A. B. 3axaposa, O nedasno packpvimoti ¢pecke ¢ JJeucycom 6 yepkeu Ycnenus
bozopoouywr ¢ Jlaboso, BecTHuk cekropa JlpeBHepyccKoro ucKyccTBa. JKypHai 0 HCTOpUHI
JIPEeBHEPYCCKOTO UCKyccTBa 2, Mocksa 2020, 33-45; A. V. Zakharova, Some Observations on
the Church of the Dormition in Labovo (Albania) and its Murals, Agktiov tng XpioTiovikng
Apyaroroywng Etanpeiag 41, 2020, 157-172.



284 Svetlana Maltseva

Fig. 11. Plastering
of the eastern facade
with imitation of
masonry in Great
Basilica of Butrint at
the Ionian coast, end
of the 10th century,
Albania (photo by S.
Maltseva)

Ca. 11. Manrep
nucrouHe ¢acaze ca
HMHTALIN)OM 3U/1atba
BeJIMKe Oa3UIINKe y
Byrpunry, kpaj 10.
Beka. Anbanuja.
(®oto C. Manuesa)

Fig. 12. Fragment of
the altar barrier of the
Church of St. John the
Theologian in Zemen,
mid-11th century,
Bulgaria (photo by S.
Maltseva)

Cn. 12. ®parmeHt
oJITapcKe Tperpaje
npkse Cs. JoBana
JeBanhenucre y
3emeHy, cpenrHa
11. Beka, Byrapcka.
(®oro C. MauieBa)

the first layer in Zemen.37 The development of ceramoplastic decoration that
covers the apses, the walls and the drums in the churches of that period, and also
the imitation of such decoration in painting or scrtching on plaster is anticipated
in the Great basilica of Butrint at the Ionian coast.38 An examination of the sec-
tions of the ancient apse that underwent renovation in the 10th century revealed
an ornamental arrangement analogous to the elements of the ceramic decoration
of the Kastorian churches and facades in Labové, including tiles with character-
istic lines scratched diagonally. (Fig. 11) It is plausible that the traces of zigzags,
faintly perceptible on the facades in Zemen, constituted a variation of similar
painting.39

Another detail of the Zemen church suggests a connection with the mas-
ter builders of the western Greek coastal regions. During the restoration of the
church, on the eastern strand of the southern wall, an additional passage to the

37 JI. MaBpoauHoBa, 3emenckama yvpkea, 15-22.
38 S. Curti¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 309-310.
39 JI. MaBponunoBa, 3emenckama yopkea, 9.
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diakonnikon was constructed, and a marble slab with a relief ornament in the
form of a palmette was placed in the threshold of the doorway. (Fig. 12) The
palmette wattle motif is known to have a wide prevalence, yet the stylistics of
the relief from Zemen bear a stronger resemblance to the carvings found along
the Tonian and Adriatic coasts. A particularly close analogy can be observed in
the church of Panagia Trimitou from the latter half of the 10th century. (Fig.
13)40 It is plausible that the fragment in question at Zemen is also part of the
missing altar barrier and was reused in the construction of the opening of the
southern pastophorion.

The Zemen church is likely one of the projects that was realized under
the patronage of the Archbishopric of Ohrid. Construction artels were likely
well-acquainted with the architectural traditions of the Western Greek regions
and with features such as stone masonry technique with the arbitrary addition
of a small amount of bricks, a square plan with square pillars, a combination of
smoothly projecting semi-circular apses and cylindrical drums, decorative brick
elements in the form of crosses on the facades and letter-like motifs, and stone
ornamental carvings. The Zemen church, erected likely in the mid-11th century,
exemplifies the architectural traditions of the western Greek regions of the 10th
century. Its design, characterized by a square layout, slimmer proportions, and
structural articulation of the facades, utilizes blind stepped arches to reveal the
church’s internal structure. Conversely, if the decoration of the drum with large
single niches in the second tier was part of the original design, it clearly repro-
duces the features of the drum of the Panagia ton Chalkeon (1028), which, as
previously mentioned, has been identified as a key monument of Thessaloniki
for the 11th century.

The strengthening of the Theme of Bulgaria in the region prompted the
Byzantines to return to their old towns, including Ulpia Pautalia (medieval
Velbuzd, now Kyustendil). This town was founded and flourished in Roman
times due to its strategic location at the crossroads from Serdica to Thessalonica
and to Philippopolis (Plovdiv). The town’s development around the fortress,
its reconstruction following periods of devastation, and its continued existence
until the end of the sixth century are well-documented. The church, dedicated to
St. George, in Kolusha near Kyustendil (Fig. 14), is notable for its architectural
innovations that were previously unseen in the region. The exact identity of
the patron and the circumstances surrounding its construction remain uncer-
tain. Earlier researchers had dated it to the 13th century. The iconography of the
painting, featuring a prominent image of St. Nicholas of Myra on the northern
pre-altar pillar, suggests an initial dedication to this saint.4! The frescoes, which
contain Greek inscriptions and were dated by Liljana Mavrodinova to the be-
ginning of the 12th century (between 1105 and 1114), are notable for their state
of preservation.42 During the most recent restoration of the church, which was

40 TI. A. Bokotomovhog, H ekkAnoiactikn apyitextovikn €ig v Avtkny Ziepedv
ElAéda, 11. 18.

41 5], MuroB, Cpeornosexosnama ywpkea «Cs. I'eopeuy ¢ Krocmenoun, KrocteHmun
2016.

42 JI. MaBpoxnuHoBa, Owe 3a cpedHogekosHama yvpkea 6 Konywia — Krocmenoun
(Kmumopu, ceemey-nokposumen u 0ama Ha cepadama u Ha Nvpeume 08a CMEHONUCHU
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Fig. 13. Fragment of the altar barrier of the Panagia Trimitou (according to Vokotopoulos)

Ca. 13. ®parmentn ontapcke nperpane npkse [lanaruja Tpumuty, Ipuxa. (Maycrpammja
o I1. Bokoromynocy)

completed in 2004, fragments of an earlier layer of painting were discovered
in the altar. These fragments provided a basis for the restorers to attribute the
time of construction of the church to the 11th century.43 Mavrodinova posits
that the church was erected during the reign of Byzantine Emperor Romanos [V
Diogenes (1067-1071)44. Slobodan Cur¢i¢ dated the church in Kolusha to the
12th century, suggesting the involvement of master builders from the Byzantine
capital city.4>

The architectural forms of the church in Kolusha closely resemble those
of the Zemen monastery, originating from Ohrid and Epirus. However, it also
exhibits a number of features that diverge significantly from the work of the
master builders from the 11th-century Ohrid Archbishopric.

The features that bring the church in Kolusha closer to the old traditions
of the 11th century, in particular to the church in Zemen, include the general ty-
pology of the inscribed cross with square pillars without narthex (7x11m) (Fig.
15), the preservation of the composition of three semicircular apses, characteris-
tic of the 10th and 11th centuries, articulation of facades with blind two-stepped
arches, and decoration of brickwork crosses and zigzags, which in this case
is supplemented with ceramic inserts in the form of ,,dots.“ The photograph,
which records the condition of the monument before restoration, documents the
presence of these features, thereby confirming the authenticity of the decora-

cnos), U3Becrus na Uctopuueku myseit — Krocrenaun 14, Krocrenaun 2007, 12—13.

43 A. Ma3zakosa, [Ipoyusane, pecmaspayus u eKCHOHUpAHe HA CPEOHOBEKOBHUME
cmenonucu 8 yopkeama ,,Ce. I'eopeu” — Konywa, Kiocmenoun, Y3Bectus Ha Mctoprueckn
my3eii — Kroctenauin 14, Krocrenaun 2007, 19.

44 JI. Maspomunosa JI. Owe 3a cpeonogexosnama ywprea 6 Konywa, 14.

45 S. Curdi¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 412-413.
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tive elements46. It is noteworthy that in Kolusha, akin to Zemen, the archivolt
trims of windows and niches are exclusive to the western facade. The archivolts
of the Church of St. George in Kolusha feature thin joints, emulating the dis-
tinctive characteristic of the masonry of Panagia ton Chalkeon in Thessaloniki.
Notably, it is only above the entrance door on the western fagade of Panagia ton
Chalkeon that we encounter an archivolt constructed with the use of concealed
course and outlined by bricks. In light of the research conducted by G. Velenis,
a plausible explanation can be posited for the utilization of the arch edging in
the western portal of the Panagia ton Chalkeon4”. This explanation pertains to
the challenges encountered by Byzantine builders in transitioning from con-
ventional brickwork to a system with a concealed course. Primarily, these chal-
lenges were related to the alignment of horizontal brick rows on wall surfaces
with the radial rows that constitute the archivolts. The construction of arches
with large diameters presented particular difficulties, as the number of brick
rows required for their completion increased with the size of the arch.

Kappas identified the distinctive architectural elements of Thessaloniki,
noting that the technique of edging the facade arches with brick was a hallmark
of regional specificity48. He emphasized that this detail was not observed in
any monuments of the Middle Byzantine period in Constantinople or its sur-
roundings49. Concurrently, within the context of the Macedonian territories,
arch edging emerged as a prevalent design solution, serving to accentuate the
architectural composition of the window opening against the backdrop of the
prevailing wall masonry, even prior to the emergence of the concealed course
technique. An illustrative example of this phenomenon is found in the repeated
motif on the facades of the Church of St. Sophia in Ohrid. It is plausible to
hypothesize that the initial encounter between the local tradition of arranging
arches and the metropolitan practice took place during the construction of the
church of Panagia ton Chalkeon, subsequently adopted by the master builders
in the western part of the Theme of Bulgaria.

Regarding the innovations that did not exist in the 11th century in this
northern region of the Balkans, we note the technique of masonry mainly made
of spolia early Byzantine brick, laid with a concealed course, except for the
cobblestones of the plinth; the faceted drum with semi-columns at the corners,
carrying an overhead arcade over profiled windows and niches in each face,
with imposts in the base of the arches; deep stepped profiling of windows and
arched niches on the facades; a double protruding dogtooth frieze encircling all

46 H. MaBpoauHoB, EOHOKopabHama u KpbCmoSUOHAmMa yvpkea no Ovicapckume
semu 00 Kpas na X1V eex, Codus 1931; C. AHrenos, Axyenmu om KyimypHama ucmopust
om Kiocmenoun u Krocmenouncko, I3Bectust Ha ucropuuecku My3ei — Krocrenmin 20, Kro-
creaaun 2019, 285.

47 T. Behévng, Epunveio tov elwtepikod dokdouov oty Solaviiviy opyiteKtoviki,
diozp1fn, Ococalovikn 1984, 65-106.

48 M. Kamnmac, ApxutektypHsiii «uauoiaekt» deccanonuku, 138.

49 For rare examples of the use of this technique in Constantinople’s architectural
practice, see: C. B. ManbiieBa; A. A. ®pese, Ocmbiciienue KOHCMAHRMUHONOLLCKUX CIPOU-

menbHbIX npakmuk 6 apxumexkmype Makeoonuu u coceonux 3emensv 6 XI-XII sexax, Buzan-
tuiickuii Bpemennuk 108, Mocksa 2024, 263-284.
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Fig. 14. Church
of St. George
_in Kolusha, 2nd

. half. 11th century.

Bulgaria (photo by
S. Maltseva)
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the compositional elements of the building; an unusual triple altar window, as if
assembled from three single ones, as it happens on faceted apses. An important
new element, harking back to the metropolitan architecture, is the appearance of
the bemas, due to which the plan acquired a more elongated form than a square.
At the same time, square pillars are preserved, the side aisles become narrow,
and their corner cells are completed with domical vaults - another new element
for the architecture of the northern Balkan provinces. In the interior, cornices
appear at the base of the drum, the vaults of the arms of the cross, and on the
pillars at the level of small arches, which also finds parallels in monuments ori-
ented on metropolitan architecture.

Cur¢i¢ proposed the involvement of master builders from Constantinople
in the construction of the church of St. George (St. Nicholas) in Kolusha>0.
This viewpoint is not endorsed, as the architectural composition of the church
contains few distinctly Constantinopolitan elements. Some characteristics, such
as the presence of bemas and cornices, a concealed course, and masonry of arch
elements without brick lining, are by this time observable in other regions. The
nearest artistic hub to which the ancient Roman road led from Kolusha was
Thessaloniki, which was under the influence of Constantinople. The architec-
tural innovations observed in Kolusha, including the arrangement of the altar
with the bema, the design of the windows in the central apse, the incorporation
of dome vaults in the corner compartments, the masonry technique, and the
distinctive style of the facades, were already evident in the renowned church
of Thessaloniki. The architectural design of Kolusha clearly exhibits the initial
impulse of the innovations found in Panagia ton Chalkeon, which in this case
have undergone a process of simplification and reinterpretation. This influence

50 8. Curti¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 412—413.



Huw u Busaniuuja XXI11 289

Fig. 15. Church of St.
George in Kolusha,
2nd half. 11th century.
Bulgaria. Plan (accord-
ing to Curéic)

Ca. 15. Lpksa Cs.
Bopha (Cs. Hukomna)
y Konymu, npyra
mosioBrHa 11. Beka,
Byrapcka. (ocnosa C.
TRypunh)

is evident in the design of the drum, which features a superimposed arcade on
columns, and in the composition of the side facades, divided by flat niches with
two-step profiling. The central niche is particularly notable for its increased
height and width, and it is cut through with pairs of windows.

Another indirect evidence of a reflection on the architectural forms of the
Panagia ton Chalkeon may be the presence of false gables above the tympana
of the arms of the cross. However, the modern Kolusha gables were the result
of a crude restoration that violated the possible proportions of these elements.
An old pre-restoration photograph (late 19th century) published by Mavrodinov
shows that none of the gables have survived, but it seems that there is a frag-
ment of vertically rising masonry on the southern side of the tympanum of the
western facade>1. The quality of the photo does not allow us to be sure that there
are good reasons for such a reconstruction. However, the significant similarity
of other features of the architecture of the church in Kolusha and Panagia ton
Chalkeon, as well as the popularity of similar pediments or tympana over the
cross arms (Sapareva Banja, Nerezi, KurSumlija) in other monuments of the
11th century and 12th century, allows us to assume the possibility of the exis-
tence of a false pediment in Kolusha.

In the same Kyustendil region, 60 kilometers east of Kolusha, there is a
diminutive Church of St. Nicholas in Sapareva Banja.>2 (Fig. 13) The ktetor of
the church remains unknown. As with Kolusha, the construction of this church
is situated within the Roman and early Byzantine city of Germania, a region
that maintained its popularity throughout history due to the presence of ther-
mal springs and its advantageous geographical location. It is plausible that the
patron of the Church of St. Nicholas was a member of the Byzantine military
aristocracy. Bulgarian historiography has proposed a wide range of dates for the

51 H. MaBpoauHoB, Eonokopabrhama u KpbCmosuoHama ybpKked.
52 8. Curti¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 403—404.
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Fig. 16. Church
of St. Nicholas
in Sapareva
Banja, 2nd half
of the 11th cen-
tury, Bulgaria
(photo by S.
Maltseva)

Cn. 16. Llpksa
Cs. Huxone

y Camapesoj
bamu, npyra
nojoBuHa 11.
Beka, byrapcka.
(Poro C.
Mavbliesa)

monument, spanning from the 12th to the 13th century53. Curéi¢ placed it in the
same historical period as the Church of Kur§umlija, though he did not specify a
precise dating. The architectural design of the church, characterized by its com-
pact structure, square plan, and wide dome, employing the concealed course
technique, evokes associations with the church of St. Nicholas in KurSumlija
(Toplica), which was constructed in the 1150s to 1160s>4. However, a compara-
tive analysis of these two monuments reveals that the observed similarities are
limited to certain architectural elements. With the exception of the typology, the
architectural program of the church in Sapareva Banja finds its closest analogies
with the program of the church in Kolusha. It also lacks a narthex, has one round
apse, and the same extensive profiling on the facades as in Kolusha, which dif-
fers significantly from the flattened elements in KurSumlija. The rich arcade on
columns with imposts on the drum, in combination with the alternating narrow
windows and deep niches, exhibits a full correspondence to the morphology of
the Kolusha church, while bearing no resemblance to the large windows of the
drum in KurSumlija. The composition of two single windows inserted into the
timpana of the side facades of the Kolusha church is reproduced in Sapareva
Banja on a different scale, transforming into an original composition of blind
twin arches with ledges and a third one hanging above them, which does not
exceed the surface of the wall. The false triangular gables in Sapareva Banja
rise above the vaults on all four facades, apparently repeating a composition
similar to that of the church in Kolusha. All elements of the facades in Sapareva
Banja are accentuated by a double dogtooth frieze, a feature that is also present
in the Kyustendil church. Even the stone socle at the base of the lower rows of
brick masonry completely repeats the same feature observed in Kolusha. The
arched elements of windows and niches in Sapareva Banja are constructed with

53 Kp. MusiteB, Apxumexmypama 6 cpeonosexosna bvaeapus, Copus 1965, 190; H.
Yanesa-J/leueBcka, [{vprosnama apxumexmypa na ITvpeama Bveapcka ovporcasa, Copus
1984, 104.

54 8. Curi¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 404.
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bricks with thin joints, contrasting with the
thick joints of concealed course masonry
of the walls, mirroring the style observed
in Kolusha.

Finally, it is important to note that,
just as in the Kolusha church, the tympa-
num arch of the western facade is the only
one with a characteristic brick edging. This
brick edging is modeled after the Panagia
ton Chalkeon in Thessaloniki, where this
motif is also found only on the western
facade. We therefore assume, albeit ten- &
tatively, that the Church of St. Nicholas |~
in Kolusha and the church in Sapareva |
Banja with the same dedication may be
the products of the same construction ar-
tel. Consequently, the time of construc- |
tion of these two churches, in Kolusha and
Sapareva Banja, is constrained to the date
of appearance of the model in Thessaloniki
(1028) and the time of the first layer of  Fig. 17. Church of St. Theodore
paintings discovered by restorers in the Stratilates in Boboshevo, end of the 11th

. . — beginning of the 12th century, Bulgaria
apse of the church in Kolusha, i.e., before (photo by S. Maltseva)
the first half of the 12th century, when the P v
second layer of frescoes appears in the in- ~ C- 7. Llpxsa Teonopa Crparunara
terior. y bobGomeny, kpaj 11 Beka, byrapcka.

Our hypothesis is that these two (®oro €. Marnera)
churches, which exhibit a high degree of
architectural similarity despite their differences in typology and size, are de-
rived from the architectural tradition of Thessaloniki centered on the Panagia
ton Chalkeon. Furthermore, we posit that the architectural program of the
Kolusha church and the typology of the church in Sapareva Banja, which is
conducive to the construction of small domed churches, would serve as models
for local builders in west of modern Bulgaria. The fundamental design prin-
ciples of the cross-domed church of compact type will be maintained, while the
morphology will undergo simplification. For instance, the wide twelve-sided
drum in Sapareva Banja would be transformed into a cylindrical one with a sig-
nificant reduction in diameter and elongation of proportions in the construction
of the Church of St. Theodore Stratilates in Boboshevo (Fig. 13).55 This church
is widely dated in Bulgarian historiography from the first quarter of the 11th
century to the 14th century. Concurrently, the stepped pilasters of the faceted
drum found in the Church of St. Nicholas in Sapareva Banja underwent a trans-
fer to the round drum, thereby signifying the variability and provinciality of the

55 B. Mukos, [Jupreama “Ce.Tooop”, N3Bectus Ha Apxeonoruueckus MHCTUTYT
5, 1928-1929, 33; Kp. MusrteB, Apxumexmypama é cpeonogexosna bvacapus, Codpus 1965,
190; . anaitorosa, [{vpreama Ces. Tooop npu Boboweso, V3Bectus Ha MHCTHTYTA 32 H30-
Opasurennu u3kycrea 7, 1964, 101.
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continuation of such an architectural tradition. The concealed course technique,
which was preserved in the vaulted elements, would involve the incorporation
of a substantial amount of rough stone.

The tradition of Thessaloniki, which was adopted in these areas following
the construction of the Panagia ton Chalkeon, continued in a simplified version
through local artisans. Concurrently, all the aforementioned monuments, ori-
ented on the Panagia ton Chalkeon and reproducing its individual features, were
constructed by regional artels, independent of the master builders of the church
in Thessaloniki. The influence of the Panagia ton Chalkeon tradition is evident
in the design of the drum of the church in Zemen and is still preserved in many
features of the church in Kolusha, including the concealed course technique,
which is one of the hallmarks of the architectural tradition of Thessaloniki.
The poor preservation of 11th-century monuments in Thessaloniki allows only
a rough estimate of the influence of the Panagia ton Chalkeon on subsequent
monuments in Macedonia (the church in Olynthus), and in the lands subordi-
nate to the Archdiocese of Ohrid. The church in Thessaloniki exhibits a distinc-
tive synthesis of Constantinopolitan, Athonite, and Thessalonian characteris-
tics, thereby transcending the conventional boundaries of Byzantine aesthetics
and disseminating the innovations of metropolitan architectural practice to the
northern regions of the Byzantine Theme of Bulgaria. The northern regions of
the Balkans, which were actively engaged in the 11th century with Ohrid and
Thessaloniki, became a site for experimentation, combining architectural ele-
ments from different regional traditions.

Ceemaana Mamwyesa
(CanxrrerepOypIIKH ApXKAaBHU yHUBEP3UTET, VcTpaKMBaYKy HHCTUTYT 32 TEOPH]y H HCTOPHUjY
apxuTekType u ypbanuzma, Mocksa)
ITAHATUJA TOH XAJIKEOH Y COJIVYHY U IPKBEHO I'PAIUTEJLCTBO
Y BUSAHTUICKOJ TEMU BYTAPCKE V 11. BEKY

ITanarmja Ton XamkeoH je wmarpahien 1128. rogwHe y OpyroM TO BETHYHHH
rpagy BusaHTHjcKor mapcTBa M IpeACTaBJba NMpUMep pernoHanHe Tpaauuuje ConyHa y
cpenmeBu3aHTHjcKoM mepuony. [loctoju orpomna nmteparypa nocBehena mnpoydaBamy
ApXUTEKTOHCKHX KapaKTePHCTHKA OBE IIPKBE, LITO JOKasyje 1a je OBaj CIIOMEHHK Pe3yiaTar
KpeaTHBHE pa3pajie ujieja COIyHCKOT MajcTopa Koje MoTHYy 13 pasHux u3sopa y Llapurpany,
Arocy u HenocpeHo y ConyHy. Y 0BOM WIaHKY JKEJIMMO Jja HACTaBUMO TeMY U Jja IPaTUMO
KaKo je OBO jeAMHCTBEHO JieN0, LpKBa [laHaruja ToH XaJKeoH, jeJMHH MMO3HATH CIIOMEHHK
Conyna u3 11. Beka, HOCTaj0 U3BOP 3a Jajby UMIUIEMEHTAIM]y OPUTHHATIHUX Ujeja U BaH
Makesonuje TokoM 11. Beka, a OCEOHO je YTHIAIO Ha apXUTEKTOHCKH Pa3BOj BU3AHTHjCKE
teme byrapcke.



